THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Master in Equity

S. Jackson Kimball, Master in Equity  
2014-CP-46-03819

---

Appeal Case No. 2016-001696

Knightsbridge Property  
Owners Association, Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

Paul A. Nadeau,

Appellant.

---

[INITIAL] BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

J. Edwin McDonnell, 3786  
South Carolina Legal Services  
148 East Main Street  
Spartanburg, SC 29306  
864-699-0303  
864-582-0302 (fax)  
eddiemcdonnell@sclegal.org  
Attorney for Appellant

**RECEIVED**

NOV 17 2016

SC Court of Appeals

##

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

DID THE TRIAL JUDGE ERR BY FINDING THAT EQUITY PROTECTS KNIGHTSBRIDGE HOMEOWNER'S ASSOCIATION FROM ACTING BEYOND ITS OWN DECLARATION?

DID THE TRIAL JUDGE ERR BY FINDING THAT NADEAU IS ESTOPPED FROM CHALLENGING THE FIXING OF THE ASSESSMENTS BECAUSE NADEAU DID NOT COMPLAIN BEFORE THE FORECLOSURE AND PAID SOME AMOUNT TOWARD THE ASSESSMENTS?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action to foreclosure a homeowner's association assessment filed by Knightsbridge Property Owners Association, Inc. (Knightsbridge) on November 20, 2014. Paul Nadeau (Nadeau) properly filed an answer. The trial in this matter was held before the Master in Equity on January 11, 2016. The Court foreclosed on the assessment ordering the sale of Nadeau's home. The order was signed on February 29, 2016 and filed on March 1, 2016. Nadeau timely filed a motion to reconsider which was heard on April 20, 2016. The order denying the motion was signed on July 27, 2016 and filed on July 28, 2016. The Notice of Intent to Appeal was filed on August 15, 2016. Nadeau sought a stay of the foreclosure sale which was granted by order dated September 6, 2016. The order required Nadeau to post a bond of \$9,500. Nadeau complied with that order. The foreclosure sale has been stayed.

## FACTS

Knightsbridge Property Owner's Association, Inc. was created by a Master Declaration (Declaration) dated June 19, 1996 and filed on June 20, 1996 (exhibit 1) Each owner of property within Knightsbridge neighborhood is obligated to pay properly fixed assessments. (exhibit 1 Article V, Section 1, page 6) A Board of Directors governs Knightsbridge. (exhibit 1 Article III, Section 6, page 4) "The Board of Directors shall fix the amount of the annual assessments against each lot at least thirty (30) days in advance of each calendar year." (Exhibit 1, Article V, Section 7, page 8) This foreclosure action involves the assessments for 2012 through 2015. (February 29, 2016 Order page 2, fn. 1). The board minutes show that the assessments were fixed by the approval of a budget that included a line item for the assessments on the following dates:

Meeting December 14, 2011 for 2012 (exhibit 2)

Meeting November 28, 2012 for 2013 by email vote (exhibit 2)

Meeting December 5, 2013 for 2014 (exhibit 2)

Meeting with No date in 2014 for 2015 (exhibit 2)

Neither the Master Declaration (transcript of January trial page 22 lines 10-13) nor the Bylaws (transcript of January trial page 38 line 9 through page 39 line 17) provide for a board of Directors vote by email.

Knightsbridge included late fees in the foreclosure amount. The Trial Court deducted late fees because late fees were not established in the Master Declaration or the Bylaws. (February 29, 2016 order page 3)

Nadeau did not pay all of the assessments for the years 2012 through 2015. He did pay some amount toward those assessments. (transcript of January trial page 89 line 23 through page 90 line 16; page 104 line 12 through page 105 line 4)

## ARGUMENTS

### I. THE ASSESSMENTS ARE A NULLITY BECAUSE KNIGHTSBRIDGE DID NOT FIX THE ANNUAL ASSESSMENTS WITHIN THIRTY DAYS OF ADVANCE OF THE FOLLOWING CALENDAR YEAR,

Knightsbridge seeks to force the sale of Nadeau's home for the alleged failure to pay assessments. Knightsbridge must show that the assessments are properly due before collection of such assessments can be enforced. The assessments sought to be collected were improperly fixed by Knightsbridge. The assessments are therefore unenforceable and uncollectible.

Assessments are authorized by the Knightsbridge Master Declaration. Article V, Section 7 sets forth the procedure to fix assessments for lots in the subdivision including Paul Nadeau's lot. (transcript of January trial, exhibit 1) That section states: "The Board of Directors shall fix the amount of the annual assessment against each Lot at least thirty (30) days in advance of each calendar year."

The evidence presented by Plaintiff included minutes from the Board of Directors meetings that allegedly fixed the amount of the assessments. Those documents show the following:

Minutes with no date but with a budget dated 12/10/2014 allegedly fixed the assessment for 2015.

The minutes dated 12/09/2013 allegedly fixed the assessment for 2014. (transcript of January trial, exhibit2)

An email dated November 28, 2012 allegedly fixed the assessment for 2013. (transcript of January trial, exhibit2)

The minutes dated 12/14/2011 allegedly fixed the assessment for 2012. (transcript of January trial, exhibit2)

The minutes dated 12/13/2010 allegedly fixed the assessment for 2011. (transcript of January trial, exhibit2)

Knightsbridge attempted to testify that the budget dated December 12, 2014 indicated that the budget was approved in November. This testimony was based on computer

records that were not in evidence and an objection to the testimony was sustained by the trial court. (Transcript from trial page 27 line 16 through page 31 line 21) Knightsbridge did not present any admitted testimony to show the date of the December 2014 meeting. Two other budgets between 2011 and 2014 had dates. Each of those budgets had dates that were within two days of the corresponding meeting (2011 and 2012) (Transcript of January trial, exhibit 2)

The Board of Directors did not comply with the Master Declaration in fixing any of the assessments for 2011 and beyond. The assessments for 2011, 2012, 2014, and 2015 were, at best, all fixed at meetings in December of the previous year. The assessments were not fixed in advance of thirty days of the end of each calendar year. For 2013, there is an email dated November 28, 2012 that states the budget was approved by email. (transcript of January trial exhibit 2) The Master Declaration (transcript of January trial, exhibit 1) does not have a provision for votes by email. The Bylaws of Knightsbridge (transcript of January trial, exhibit 8) does not authorize votes by email. The Bylaws do authorize the Board to take action without a meeting. The written approval of all Directors is necessary for such action (Section 12). No such approval was presented by Knightsbridge. (transcript of January trial page 38 line 7 through page 38 line 17)

It is clear that Knightsbridge did not properly fix the assessments for the years 2011 through 2015. If the assessments were not properly fixed, they cannot be collected by Knightsbridge. If they cannot be collected by Knightsbridge, the non-payment cannot be the basis of the foreclosure requested by Knightsbridge.

In *Seabrook Island Property Owners Association v. Pelzer*, 292 S.C. 343, 356 S.E.2d 411

(Ct.App.1987), the Association was attempting to collect assessments that had not been fixed in accordance with the restrictive covenants. The Court of Appeals held that:

The restrictive covenants and the bylaws require annual maintenance charges to be based on property values. A system of charges that violates this requirement cannot be defended on the ground that it is a reasonable alternative. The Association is bound to follow the covenants and its own bylaws.

Since the flat fee annual maintenance charge violates the restrictive covenants and the bylaws, we reverse the judgment against Pelzer for the 1984 charges on his two lots. P. 348

The Court of Appeals in *Seabrook* did not allow Pelzer a refund for previously paid assessments because of estoppel. Paul Nadeau does not seek any such refund. The Court of Appeals did stop the collection of unpaid assessments. The Court of Appeals also addressed the "business judgment" rule and found that it did not aid the Association.

The Association argues that its flat fee system of charges is reasonable and was adopted in good faith in the exercise of business judgment. This argument misses the point. Restrictive covenants are contractual in nature and bind the parties thereto in the same manner as any other contract. *Palmetto Dunes Resort v. Brown*, 287 S.C. 1, 336 S.E.2d 15 (Ct.App.1985). Moreover, a corporation may exercise only those powers which are granted to it by law, by its charter or articles of incorporation, and by any bylaws made pursuant thereto; acts beyond the scope of the powers so granted are ultra vires. *Lovering v. Seabrook Island Property Owners Association*, 289 S.C. 77, 344 S.E.2d 862 (Ct.App.1986), aff'd as modified, 291 S.C. 201, 352 [292 S.C. 348] S.E.2d 707 (1987). The "business judgment" rule applies to intra vires action of the corporation, not to ultra vires acts. See *Dockside Association, Inc. v. Detyens*, 291 S.C. 214, 352 S.E.2d 714 (Ct.App.1987). p. 347

The Trial Court found that equity requires the foreclosure. (February 29, 2016 order page 4). The Trial Court did find that all assessments (except 2013) were fixed in December and were not fixed at least thirty days in advance of the calendar year. (February 29, 2016 order page 2). For 2013, the court found that the assessment was fixed on November 28, 2012. (February 29 order page 2) The court failed to note that the November 28, 2012 vote was by email. (transcript of January trial exhibit 2) There is no provision for an email vote in the Declaration or Bylaws of Knightsbridge. (transcript of January trial exhibit 1 and 8; transcript page 22 line 10-13 and transcript page 38 line 9 through page 39 line 1).

The court found that Nadeau knew about the assessments and made some payment toward the assessments. (February 29, 2016 order page 3) The court decided that equity required that Nadeau had an obligation to pay the assessments and the failure to pay those assessments result in foreclosure. (February 29, 2016 order page 4). The court cited *Regions Bank v. Wingard Properties, Inc.*, 394 S.C. 241, 715 S.E.2d 348 (Ct App 2011) (*Regions*) for the proposition that a court can do anything to ensure that just results are reached. While the *Regions* court used equity to protect a purchaser's interest in real estate, the *Regions* court did note: "The rule that equity considers as done that which should be done cannot be invoked to create a right contrary to the agreement of the parties." *Regions* at page 254. The trial court found that "The noncompliance of the Board in regard to the date specified for formulating the budget and assessments is inconsequential, and no party, including Defendant, has suffered prejudice as a result." (February court order page 3).

The Declaration specifies how Knightsbridge's is to fix the assessments. The fixing of the assessments is an *ultra vires* act. Equity should not allow Knightsbridge to deviate from the procedure set in the Declaration simply because what Knightsbridge did was inconsequential. In *Fisher v. Shipyard Village Council of Co-Owners, Inc.*, 409 S.C. 164, 760 S.E.2d 121 (Ct App 2014), the court stated "A homeowner's association is bound to follow its covenants and bylaws and cannot defend something that violates those documents on the basis that is a reasonable alternative." 760 S.E.2d 121, 130.

NADEAU IS NOT ESTOPPED FROM CHALLENGING THE FIXING OF THE ASSESSMENTS.

The Trial Judge, *sua sponte*, found that Nadeau is estopped from challenging the fixing of the assessments because Nadeau did not challenge the Board's actions before the foreclosure was filed. (July 26, 2016 order) Nadeau did nothing to the Board's detriment.

Estoppel by silence "... arises where a person owing another a duty to speak refrains from doing so and thereby leads the other to believe in the existence of an erroneous state of facts . . . The circumstance must have been such as to render it his duty to speak."

*Mayes v. Paxton*, 313 S.C. 109, 437 S.E.2d 66 (1993), page 113. Nadeau did not have a duty to speak. Nadeau did not say anything that lead Knightsbridge to ignore the Declaration.

Promissory estoppel is a quasi-contractual remedy. "The elements of promissory estoppel are (1) an unambiguous promise by the promisor; (2) reasonable reliance on the promise by the promisee; (3) reliance by the promisee was expected by and foreseeable to

the promisor; and (4) injury caused to the promisee by his reasonable reliance.” *North American Rescue Products, Inc. v P. J. Richardson*, 411 S.C. 371, 769 S.E.2d 237 (2015), 769 S.E.2d at page 241. Nadeau did not make any promises to Knightsbridge that led Knightsbridge to ignore the Declaration.

Collateral estoppel and judicial estoppel requires prior litigation between the same parties. *Carrigg v Cannon*, 347 S.C. 75, 552 S.E.2d 767, (Ct. of App. 2001)

The essential elements of estoppel as related to the party estopped are: (1) conduct which amounts to a false representation or concealment of material facts, or, at least, which is calculated to convey the impression that the facts are otherwise than, and inconsistent with, those which the party subsequently attempts to assert; (2) intention, or at least expectation, that such conduct shall be acted upon by the other party; (3) knowledge, actual or constructive, of the real facts. . . . As related to the party claiming the estoppel, the essential elements are (1) lack of knowledge and of the means of knowledge of the truth as to the facts in question, (2) reliance upon the conduct of the party estopped, and (3) prejudicial change in position. (cites omitted)

*Southern Development Land and Golf Company, Ltd. v. South Carolina Public Service Authority*, 311 S.C. 29, 426 S.E.2d 748 (1993) page 33