THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S. Jackson Kimball, III, Master-In-Equity

RECEIVED

MAR 17 2017

SC Court of Appeals

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-001696

Knightsbridge Property Owners Association, Inc., Respondent,

v.

Paul A. Nadeau, Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Stephanie C. Trotter (SC Bar No. 77680)  
McCabe, Trotter & Beverly, PC  
PO Box 212069  
Columbia, SC 29221  
803.724.5000  
**Attorney for Respondent**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S. Jackson Kimball, III, Master-In-Equity

---

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Did the trial court correctly hold that Knightsbridge Property Owners' Association acted properly in levying assessments and foreclosing liens for nonpayment of assessments by Nadeau?**
  
- II. Did the trial court correctly hold that Nadeau is estopped from raising claims challenging the assessment rate because Nadeau did not raise this issue prior to the final judgment in the foreclosure proceeding and because Nadeau paid monies toward the assessment without protest?**

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Knightsbridge filed suit against Nadeau on November 20, 2014 seeking foreclosure of an unpaid homeowner's association assessment lien on Nadeau's property. On January 10, 2016, the Honorable S. Jackson Kimball, III conducted the trial in this matter. On March 1, 2016 the trial court entered judgment in favor of Knightsbridge in the amount of \$1,516.94 plus attorney's fees and costs. Subsequently, on March 10, 2016 Nadeau filed a Motion to Reconsider, which the trial court denied on July 27, 2016.

On August 15, 2016, Nadeau filed a Notice of Appeal. Execution of the underlying order has been stayed pending appeal after Nadeau posted a bond of \$9,500.00 on September 6, 2016..

**STATEMENT OF FACTS**

In June 2001 Nadeau, Paul A. Nadeau purchased and took possession of the real property located at 727 Cheval Drive in York County, South Carolina ("Property.") (R. p. 2.) The Property is encumbered by restrictive covenants contained in the Knightsbridge Master Declaration ("Declaration.") (R. p. 2.) The Declaration was recorded June 20, 1996 in the Office of the Register of Deeds for York County in Book 1559 at Page 117. Article V, Section 1, of the Declaration establishes the obligation of any owner of a lot in

Knightsbridge to pay assessments to the Knightsbridge Property Owner's Association, Inc. It further establishes a lien in favor of Knightsbridge for the collection of such assessments or charges, along with attorney's fees and costs incurred in the collection process. ( R. pp. 127-129.)

Pursuant to Article V, Section 3 of the Declaration, the Knightsbridge Board of Directors unilaterally establishes the operating budget for Knightsbridge as long as the annual budget does not increase more than 10% above the prior year. Only where the Board proposes an increase of more than 10% is the general membership entitled to vote on the budget. Article V, Section 5 of the Declaration provides that the assessments are uniformly set for all lots. The Declaration further provides that the Board "shall fix the amount of the annual assessment against each Lot at least thirty (30) days in advance of each calendar year." (R. pp. 128-129.)

In December 2011 Knightsbridge established an annual assessment of \$440 per lot for 2012. (R. p. 15, l. 1-18.) The assessment was due in four monthly installments starting February 1, 2012. (R. pp. 159-161.) Nadeau did not pay that assessment and Knightsbridge referred his account to an attorney to file a lien against the property. (R. p. 49, l. 6-25; R. p. 53, l. 1-11; R. p. 55, l. 5-12.); At that time Knightsbridge incurred legal fees that were added to Nadeau's account pursuant to the Declaration. (R. p. 53, l. 19-20.) Subsequently, in November 2012, Nadeau filed for bankruptcy relief. (R. p. 46, l. 11-12.) When Knightsbridge learned of the bankruptcy it adjusted Nadeau's account to show only those charges accruing after his bankruptcy petition. (R. p. 25, l. 20-25; R. p. 46, l. 1-3.)

On November 28, 2012 the Knightsbridge Board approved the 2013 budget with an assessment rate of \$440.00. ( R. p. 21, l. 9-10.) The assessment was again due in four

monthly installments starting February 1, 2013. (R. pp. 160-161.) Nadeau did not remit any payments in 2013. ( R. p. 48, l. 13-16.)

On December 5, 2013 the Knightsbridge Board approved the 2014 budget with an assessment rate of \$440.00. (R. p. 21, l. 11-14.) The assessment was again due in four monthly installments starting February 1, 2014. (R. pp. 160-161.) Nadeau remitted payments totaling \$380.00 between March 2014 and December 2014. (R. p. 48, l. 7-12.)

In early December 2014, the Knightsbridge Board approved the 2015 budget with an assessment rate of \$462.00. (R. p. 33, l. 1-15.) The assessment was again due in four monthly installments starting February 1, 2015. (R. pp. 160-161.) Nadeau did not remit any payments in 2015. (R. pp. 160-161.)

At trial Knightsbridge submitted board meeting minutes ratifying or approving the annual budget for 2011 through 2015. The 2013 budget was approved on November 28, 2012. Knightsbridge's representatives testified that the budgets for the remaining years were approved sometime in December of the preceding year.

In October 2014 Knightsbridge instructed its attorney to begin foreclosure of Nadeau's property. Nadeau contested Knightsbridge's foreclosure arguing he did not owe any assessments because Knightsbridge's board of directors failed to establish the annual budget before December 1<sup>st</sup> of each year as required by the Declaration.

## ARGUMENT

**I. The trial court correctly exercised its equitable powers to uphold the budgets approved by Knightsbridge’s Board of Directors and Nadeau’s corresponding liability to pay assessments.**

**A. The trial court correctly held that Knightsbridge’s failure to adopt a budget before December 1 of each year did not invalidate the budget and assessments levied by Knightsbridge between 2011 and 2015.**

“Courts have the inherent power to do all things reasonably necessary to ensure that just results are reached to the fullest extent possible.” Regions Bank v. Wingard Prop., Inc., 394 S.C. 241, 252, 715 S.E.2d 348, 354 (Ct. App. 2011). Courts often use equitable maxims as guidance in balancing equitable considerations. “The principle ‘equity regards as done that which ought to be done’ applies in cases where the party seeking equitable relief establishes ‘a clear obligation based upon a valuable consideration that another do some act which he has failed to perform.’” Regions Bank v. Wingard Prop., Inc., 394 S.C. at 253, 715 S.E.2d at 354 (quoting Wilkie v. Phila. Life Ins. Co., 187 S.C. 382, 393–94, 197 S.E. 375, 380 (1938)). “The notion ‘equity looks to substance rather than form’ evolved out of judicial regard for that which ought to be done.” Id. “This maxim applies by ‘dispensing with pure formalities which would otherwise defeat the equity.’” Id. “After a party establishes an equitable right, the court may dispense with pure formalities which would otherwise defeat the equity.” Id.

In Regions Bank the court looked at the substance of the agreement between the parties to give an equitable lien holder priority over the bank’s first-in-time recorded lien. Specifically, the court held that even though the lien holder’s deposit was mistakenly not paid until after the bank’s lien was recorded, the bank knew of the lien holder’s pending payment. Rather than strictly enforcing the timing of the recording and payment, the

court found that equities favored granting the lien holder priority over the bank's mortgage.

The case at hand is analogous. Nadeau was well aware that he was responsible for paying his pro rata portion of the operating expenses of the Association and did not contest such at trial. Nadeau similarly did not contest the substance of the operating budget or corresponding annual assessments. In fact, Nadeau paid in 2011, 2012, and 2014 without complaint regarding the adoption of the budget. Nadeau did not dispute that he received the benefit of the services provided by Knightsbridge during these years. Nadeau's sole argument is that the budgets for the relevant timeframe were approved by the Board less than 30 days before the December 31<sup>st</sup> of each year. Nadeau presented no evidence or argument of how this delay prejudiced him or otherwise changed his course of action.

This case is exactly the type to which "substance over form" applies. Knightsbridge clearly established Nadeau's obligation to pay his pro rata share of the operating expenses of the Association. In every relevant year the Knightsbridge Board possessed sole authority to set the budget and assessment rate. Nadeau made no argument disputing the calculation of the assessment or the substance of the operating budget. Because the Board possessed the sole authority to set the budgets for the relevant years, the Board's failure to meet and approve the budget before December 1<sup>st</sup> of each year in no way deprived Nadeau of some right to vote or contest the assessments levied against his lot. Instead of contesting the substance of the Knightsbridge's claim, Nadeau asks this court to strictly apply the budget approval date to defeat the validly adopted budget and

assessment. This is the very definition of allowing a formality to defeat equity and the trial court was correct in denying Nadeau's requested relief.

**B. The trial court correctly held that Seabrook v. Pelzer is inapplicable in this case because setting the budget and levying the assessment against Knightsbridge were both powers granted to Knightsbridge by the Declaration.**

Nadeau argues that the Knightsbridge Board its authority by levying assessments that are based on a budget adopted after December 1<sup>st</sup> and are therefore unenforceable pursuant to Seabrook Island Property Owners Association v. Pelzer, 292 S.C. 343, 356 S.E.2d 411 (Ct.App.1987). Nadeau's reliance on Seabrook v. Pelzer is misplaced. In Seabrook, the issue decided by the court was whether the property owners' association exceeded its authority by calculating a special assessment in a manner not authorized by the restrictive covenants. Specifically, the property owner's association established a fixed rate of assessment for each lot despite the restrictive covenants' clear mandate that each lot's assessment be established based on that lot's taxable value. The property owners' association argued that, in its business judgment, the uniform rate of assessment was a reasonable alternative. The Court of Appeals held the board of directors lacked the power to levy the assessments in question because the restrictive covenants did not empower the board to establish a fixed rate assessment.

In this case Nadeau does not contest Knightsbridge's power to levy annual assessments and does not contest the amounts levied by the Association. Instead, Nadeau asks this Court to relieve him of his obligation based on a mere technical error in the timing of the minutes approving the budgets. To do so would frustrate the principles of equity and would require a level of strict scrutiny in no way advocated by Seabrook.

**II. The trial court correctly held that Nadeau waived his right to challenge the budget approval process because Nadeau did not raise this issue prior to trial and because Nadeau paid monies toward the assessment without protest.**

“A waiver is a voluntary and intentional abandonment or relinquishment of a known right.” Janasik v. Fairway Oaks Villas Horiz. Prop. Regime, 307 S.C. 339, 334, 415 S.E.2d 384, 387-388 (1992). “Where one dealing with another has, by its course of dealing, through leniency or otherwise, lulled that person into a sense of security, then the one doing those things cannot, when a loss occurs, in order to escape its liability, fall back upon the strict terms of a contract, the terms of which the one liable on the contract has led the other party to believe would not be strictly enforced.” Satcher v. Woodmen of the World Life Ins. Soc., 199 S.C. 59, 18 S.E.2d 523, 527-28 (1942).

Nadeau was on notice of the budget adoption timeline because the Declaration appears in his chain of title. Nadeau claims that he did not pay certain assessments because Knightsbridge was not following the correct assessment procedure. (R. p. 75.) The various budgets, notices, and minutes were all available to Nadeau through email and an online portal. (R. p. 16, l. 23; p. 30, l. 1-21.) Further, Nadeau testified that he did not receive notice of the 2012 assessment within the deadline established by the Declaration and that he has never gotten notice of the assessments. (R. p. 56, l. 4-16.) The evidence demonstrates that Nadeau was aware of his rights under the contract and aware of Knightsbridge’s assessment procedure. However, Nadeau presented no evidence that he raised the budget timing issue to the Knightsbridge at any time before trial. Instead, Nadeau testified that he originally failed to make payments because he lost his job and because his father was ill (R. p. 54, l. 18-25 - p. 55, l.1); that he contacted Knightsbridge’s agent to discuss a payment plan for the balance due (R. p. 61, l. 11-21); and that he made payments when he could afford to do so. (R. p. 74,